CASE NO: 74,215 DCA CASE NO: 88-1479

FLORIDA BAR NO.: 224571

AMERICAN LEGION COMMUNITY CLUB OF COCONUT GROVE, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

MURRY DIAMOND,

Respondent,

JUL 6 1939

EVerence Dossie Court

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES W. MOORE
Counsel for Petitioner
TAYLOR, BRION, BUKER & GREENE
801 Brickell Ave., 14th Floor
Miami, Florida 33131-2900
(305) 377-6700

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Reference to the Petitioner will be by the use of its formal name or "Petitioner". Reference to the Respondent will be by the use of his formal name or "Respondent". Reference to the record on appeal will be by use of the term "R." Reference to the transcript of the hearing on May 6, 1988 will be by use of the term "Tr." Reference to File Number 84-25832 will be by use of an Appendix as to the particular documents necessary for reference and by use of the term "Appendix Exhibit."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

84-25832 CA (27), The American Lesion In Case No. Department of Florida v. Bill Adkins , American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc., n/k/a Post 70 (Lindley DeGarmo Post), Del Rossi Enterprises, Inc., and Mary Jeannette Taylor, Defendants, the American Legion Department of Florida', filed an Amended Complaint seeking to quiet title in real property located at 2903 McFarlane Road, Coconut Grove, Miami, Florida on which was located the Post home of Lindley De Garmo Post No. 70 of the American Legion<sup>2</sup>. [Appendix Exhibit 13. As set forth therein, the American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc., Petitioner, had been suspended under the constitution and bylaws of the American Legion Department of Florida and the

The American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc. was named as a Defendant because of its recalcitrance to join as a Plaintiff, given its suspension by the American Legion Department of Florida. [Tr. 422]

The American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc. was the entity incorporated by Post 70 for purposes of holding title to the Post home.

Uniform Code of Procedure. In conjunction with the filing of the Amended Complaint, a lis pendens was recorded on June 27, 1985 in the Public Records of Dade County, Florida. [Appendix Exhibit 21. The purpose of this litigation was to quiet title into the American Legion system, the suspended post having deeded the subject real property to Del Rossi Enterprises, Inc. without authorization and allegedly through deception practiced upon it, by warranty deed recorded August 31, 1983 and recorded in the Public Records of Dade County, Florida [Appendix Exhibit 3]. During the pendency of Case No. 84-25832 CA (27), and within this one year of the recording of the lis pendens the Respondent obtained a Final Judgment in Case No. 82-7193 CA (27) in the amount of \$1.5 million dollars against Del Rossi Enterprises, Inc. and others, jointly and severally. A certified copy of this judgment was recorded on January 3, 1986 in the Public Records of Dade County, Florida and re-recorded on April 1, 1986 in the Public Records of Dade County, Florida. In or about December of 1987, in Case No. 82-7193 CA (27), the Sheriff of Dade County, Florida noticed the subject real property for sheriff's sale on January 27, 1988. [R. 393-3991 On December 23, 1987, the American Legion Department of Florida and Del Rossi Enterprises, Inc. stipulated to the entry of a judgment in Case No. 84-25832 CA (27) resolving the dispute between them, whereby the subject real property was quieted into the American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc. [Appendix Exhibit 4]. The lower tribunal,

as set forth and revealed in the Final Judgment, carried forward the force and effect of the lis pendens recorded on June 27, 1985 through the entry of the Final Judgment on the 23rd of December, 1987. Specifically, the lower tribunal stated:

The claims of the Defendants, if any, Bill Adkins and Del Rossi Enterprises, Inc. and any and all who claim title under them here and to the subject real property, are without any right whatever and title is quieted in the American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc. against any and all claims or demands of the Defendants, Bill Adkins and Del Rossi Enterprises, Inc. and any person claiming by, through and under them since the filing of the lis pendens to any estate right, title or interest in the subject real property. Defendants, Bill Adkins and Del Rossi Enterprises, Inc. and any persons claiming by, through, and under them since the filing of the lis pendens are permanently enjoined and restrained from asserting any claim or interest in or to the subject real property or any part thereof.

In January of 1988, the Petitioner filed its Motion to Stay Sheriff's Sale and Motion to Quash Writ of Execution [R. 393-3991.

The merits of the Petitioner's Motion to Stay Sheriff's Sale and Motion to Quash Writ of Execution [R. 393-3991 were heard on May 6, 1988 and the lower tribunal entered its orders on May 16, 1988 and May 19, 1988 determining the lis pendens to be of force and effect as it related to the Respondent's judgment of December 11, 1985, and by the order appealed from, denied the Respondent's right to levy against the subject real property.

The Third District Court of Appeal in its opinion of April 25, 1989 concluded that a lawsuit to quiet title to real property predicated on allegations of fraudulent conveyance and misrepresentation, which was the lawsuit filed by The American Legion Department of Florida in Case No. 84-25832 (Dade County Circuit Court) from which emanated the subject lis pendens, is not an "action... founded upon a duly recorded instrument" and therefore a notice of lis pendens filed in such an action is not "effectual for any purpose beyond one year, from the commencement of the action... except when the Court extends the time on reasonable notice and for good cause." reversing the ruling of the lower tribunal while certifying conflict with the opinions of the First and Second District Court of Appeals, Albesa Corp. v. Manning, 468 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); and Chapman v. L&N Grove, Inc., 244 So.2d 154 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1971), and further certifying the following question as being of great public importance:

WHETHER A SUIT TO SET ASIDE A CONVEYANCE OF REAL PROPERTY IS AN ACTION "FOUNDED ON A DULY RECORDED INSTRUMENT" AS SET FORTH IN 548.23, FLORIDA STATUTES (1985), AUTHORIZING THE MAINTENANCE OF A NOTICE OF LIS PENDENS AS OF RIGHT.

The Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction followed on May 23, 1989.

### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. WHETHER A SUIT TO SET ASIDE A CONVEYANCE OF REAL PROPERTY IS AN ACTION FOUNDED ON A DULY RECORDED INSTRUMENT AS SET FORTH IN 548.23, FLORIDA STATUTES (1985), AUTHORIZING THE

MAINTENANCE OF A NOTICE OF LIS PENDENS AS OF RIGHT.

B. DID THE LIS PENDENS FILED IN THE LOWER TRIBUNAL CHARGE THE RESPONDENT WITH CONSTRUCTIVE NOTICE SO AS TO SUBJECT THE RESPONDENT TO THE OUTCOME OF THE RULING IN CASE NO. 84-25832 CA (27) QUIETING TITLE IN THE SUBJECT REAL PROPERTY TO THE AMERICAN LEGION COMMUNITY CLUB OF COCONUT GROVE, INC.?

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

First, issue (A) is determinable in large measure by this Court's resolution of whether the action filed in Case No. 84-25832 (27) was "founded on a duly recorded instrument". There is a split of authority among the District Courts that have addressed the issue. The Petitioner contends that the Amended Complaint in Case No. 84-25832 (27) [Appendix Exhibit 13 was founded on a duly recorded instrument and thus the lis pendens recorded on June 27, 1985 is effectual beyond a one (1) year [See generally, Section 48.23, Florida Statutes, (1985)]. Second, it is the Petitioner's contention that, as revealed by the lower tribunal's Final Judgment in Case No. 84-25832 CA (27), [Appendix Exhibit 4] the lower tribunal extended the effect of the lis pendens through the entry of its Final Judgment of December 23, 1987, as authorized by the applicable statute 848.23, Florida Statutes (1985). The lower tribunal controlled the lis pendens with the discretion that the statute affords it, extending its effect, there having been no motion to discharge it.

As to issue (B), even if the vitality of this lis pendens expired after a period of one (1) year, it served its purpose in

providing constructive notice, if not actual notice, to the Respondent, during its one-year period so that the Respondent, being on notice, was subject to the Final Judgment quieting title into the American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc. upon entry of Final Judgment in Case No. 84-25832 CA (27). [Appendix Exhibit 4] The Respondent, having once been placed on notice, cannot thereafter disclaim the effect of that notice.

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. A SUIT TO SET ASIDE A CONVEYANCE OF REAL PROPERTY IS AN ACTION FOUNDED ON A DULY RECORDED INSTRUMENT AS SET FORTH IN §48.23, FLORIDA STATUTES (1985), AUTHORIZING THE MAINTENANCE OF A NOTICE OF LIS PENDENS AS OF RIGHT.

The Respondent, Murry Diamond, suggests that it would require a linguistic contortion to conclude that the Amended Complaint filed in Case No. 84-25832 CA (27) [Appendix Exhibit 13 is "founded on" a duly recorded instrument. "Founded" as defined in Black's Law Dictionary means "based upon; arising from, growing out of or resting upon; as in the expressions of 'founded in fraud', 'founded on a consideration', 'founded on contract', and the like." [Black's Law Dictionary, p. 785 (Revised Fourth Edition, 1968)] "Founded on" as defined by Black's Law Dictionary means "[t]o serve as a base or basis for." [Id.] The American Legion's Amended Complaint arises from the warranty deed recorded August 31, 1983, which constitutes the basis therefor. But for that warranty deed, the Amended Complaint and lis pendens would not have been filed. The Petitioner submits that

the logic of its position lies in the clear meaning of the statutory terms, and that the argument asserted by the Respondent is nothing more than "splitting hairs" and challenges common sense. [See generally, Section 48.23, Florida Statutes (1985)].

The Petitioner acknowledges those decisions contrary to its position set forth in the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal and submits that the better reasoned decision is set forth in Chapman v. L&N Grove, Inc., 244 So.2d 154 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1971). In that cause, the complaint sought equitable rescission and cancellation of a deed. A lis pendens was filed along with the suit. The trial court ruled that an indemnity bond was to be posted as a condition of maintaining the lis pendens. The Second District Court of Appeal reversed stating that:

...[P]laintiff's complaint, as the initial pleading in the cause, shows that the relief therein sought was 'founded on a duly recorded instrument', namely the deed which was allegedly obtained by fraud and which was sought to be rescinded and cancelled.

[244 So.2d 154, 156 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1971)]

Just as in <u>Chapman v. L&N Grove</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, the cause of action in Case No. 84-25832 (27) [Appendix Exhibit 13 was founded on a duly recorded instrument, namely the deed which clouded the title of the American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc.

The cases of Ross v. Breder, 528 So.2d 64 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988); Berkley Multi-Units Inc. v. Linder, 464 So.2d 1356 (Fla.

4th DCA 1985); and Mohican Valley, Inc. v. MacDonald, 443 \$0.2d 479 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) espouse opinion contrary to the position taken by the Petitioner. Berkley Multi-Units, Inc. v. Linder, 464 \$0.2d 1356 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) involved numerous parties to a nine (9) count complaint seeking rescission and other relief based upon allegations of fraud and conspiracy. The appellate court determined that the action had not been founded on a duly recorded instrument. In rationalizing its opinion, that court stated that if an action to rescind a warranty deed is brought by the grantor of the deed, the action is not founded on the deed but on circumstances preceding and surrounding the execution of the deed. [Id. At 1356, 13581.

The Petitioner simply does not share this rationale. It seems to be "splitting hairs" to argue that an action brought to quiet title to a piece of property based upon a challengeable deed of record is not an action founded on a duly recorded instrument. The jist of any action to quiet title is to establish one's entitlement to realty, necessarily disputing any right, title, or interest asserted by other documents of record in conflict with that alleged entitlement and necessarily filed because of the duly recorded instruments.

In the instant case, the American Legion Department of Florida filed its Amended Complaint to quiet title to the subject real property alleging that the subject warranty deed was void,

in that it was in violation of the constitution and bylaws of the Defendant, American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc. More specifically, the warranty deed was neither considered nor approved by the requisite number of members of the Executive Committee, Board of Directors, and Board of Trustees of the Defendant, American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc., and there was a total absence of consideration.

[Appendix Exhibit "1"]

The Petitioner strongly asserts that the jist of this action was to remove the cloud from its title, this cloud being the subject deed. [Appendix Exhibit 3] Thus, the action arose from a duly recorded instrument.

In Mohican Valley, Inc. v. MacDonald, 443 So.2d 479 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), the appellate court was dealing with a shareholder's derivative action to cancel a deed fraudulently transferred. Although the Petitioner does not subscribe to the outcome of that decision, the appellate court did acknowledge in its discussion of commonly recognized actions founded on duly recorded instruments that:

A suit to quiet title may be founded upon an instrument in writing and usually seeks a declaration of legal rights under competing instruments or separate claims.

[Id. At 481]

The suit to quiet title in Case No. 84-25832 (27) [Appendix Exhibit 13 sought a declaration of the Petitioner's entitlement to the subject real property. The focal point of that litigation was the alleged competing instrument and the

quiet title action was founded upon that competing instrument. The quiet title action did not incidentally involve a deed. Rather, the action would not have been brought <u>but for</u> the deed.

The Ross v. Breeder decision at 528 So.2d 64 (Fla 3rd DCA 1988) perpetuates the rationale of Mohican Vallev, Inc. v. MacDonald, 443 So.2d 479 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); a rationale which the Petitioner contends is inequitably grounded on a requirement that one's rights arise from the recorded instrument in order for the action to be founded upon that instrument. It appears to the Petitioner that the right asserted could emanate from varied sources while the action and lis pendens would be filed because of a recorded instrument. "Founded upon", "based upon", or "arising from" more commonly would suggest that the action filed would not have been filed but for the recorded instrument. lis pendens calls the attention of all to the dispute concerning the subject real property. Any good faith purchaser with constructive notice by way of the lis pendens would then be cognizant that there is a cloud on the title. The instruments already of record are not required to provide this notice, for the lis pendens effects the notice. This is the lis pendens' purpose.

The Petitioner submits to the Court that the rationale utilized by the Second District Court of Appeal in Chapman v. L&N Grove, Inc., 244 So.2d 154 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1971), and by the First District Court of Appeal in Albega Corporation v. Manning, 468 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) is the more correct.

The Respondent was cognizant of the pending litigation, by the filing of the lis pendens, at the time he acquired his final money judgment. He was cognizant that the outcome of pending litigation in Case No. 84-25832 (27) might extinguish any claimed interest that he made to the subject real property by virtue of his final money judgment. The lis pendens remained effective through the entry of the Final Judgment in Case No. 84-25832 [Appendix Exhibit 4], and accordingly, the Respondent's interests were extinguished as it related to this real property. [Central Trust Company v. Harless, 152 S.E. 209, 212 (W.Va. 1930); cf. Leuders v. Thomas, 17 So. 633 (Fla. 1895); cf. Montserrat Overseas Holdings, S.A. v. Larsen, 709 F.2d 22 (9th Cir. 1983)].

a

a

a

It is of moment to note that the Final Judgment in Case No. 84-25832 CA (27) carried forward the effect of the lis pendens through December 23, 1987 by its conclusion:

The claims of the Defendants, if any, Bill Adkins and Del Rossi Enterprises, Inc. and any and all who claim title under them here and to the subject real property, are without any right whatever and title is quieted in the American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc. against any and all claims or demands of the Defendants, Bill Adkins and Del Rossi Enterprises, Inc. and any persons claiming by, through and under them since the filing of the lis pendens to any estate, right, title or interest in the subject real property. Defendants, Bill Adkins and Del Rossi Enterprises, Inc. and any persons claiming by, through and under them since the filing of the lis pendens are permanently enjoined and restrained from asserting any claim or interest

in or to the subject real property or any part thereof.

[Appendix Exhibit 4].

a

a

a

a

The lis pendens recorded on June 27, 1985 was never attacked throughout the course of the litigation in Case No. 84-25832 CA (27). It is submitted that the lis pendens, not having been discharged, and having been extended by the lower tribunal through entry of the Final Judgment, maintained its vitality, and this Court should not countenance any collateral attack thereon.

B. THE LIS PENDENS FILED ON JUNE 27, 1985 CHARGED THE RESPONDENT WITH CONSTRUCTIVE NOTICE SO AS TO SUBJECT THE RESPONDENT TO THE OUTCOME OF THE RULING IN CASE NO. 84-25832 CA (27) QUIETING TITLE IN THE SUBJECT REAL PROPERTY TO THE AMERICAN LEGION COMMUNITY CLUB OF COCONUT GROVE, INC.

Assuming arguendo that the lis pendens filed by the American Legion in Case No. 84-25832 CA (27) [Appendix Exhibit 2] expired after a period of one (1) year (June 27, 1986), it is uncontradicted that the Respondent received constructive notice of the action filed by the American Legion in Case No. 84-25832 CA (27) seeking to quiet title into the American Legion during the period of vitality of the lis pendens. [R. 467-5091 Specifically, the subject lis pendens was recorded on June 27, 1985. The Respondent received his judgment on December 11, 1985, which judgment was recorded on December 17, 1985, certified copies of which were recorded on January 3, 1986 and April 1, 1986 in the Public Records of Dade County, Florida.

The Petitioner most respectfully asserts that the Respondent and the Third District Court of Appeal have missed the point when they assert that if the lis pendens expired in one (1) year the Respondent's interest in the subject real property would not be subject to the subsequent Final Judgment which was entered in Case No. 84-25832 CA (27). [Appendix Exhibit 4] The purpose of the lis pendens was to give notice, either constructively or actually, that the subject real property was involved in pending litigation, and all those on constructive or actual notice were charged with the consequences of the outcome of that litigation. The Respondent, a judgment creditor, was subject to the effect of the lis pendens. [Stout v. Lye, 103 U.S. 66 (1881); Bridger v. Exchanse Bank, 56 S.E. 97 (Ga. 1906).] Assuming arguendo that the vitality of the lis pendens involved in this case expired on June 27, 1986, the Respondent had received constructive notice, clearly within the period of vitality, that he would be subject to the outcome of litigation pending concerning the subject real property [See generally, Hough v. Stewart, No. 88-2184 (Fla. 5th 1989) (WESTLAW).] The lis pendens in this action DCA May 11, was not rendered void ab initio simply because it may have expired prior to entry of Final Judgment in Case No. 84-25832 CA Its purpose was served when it placed the Respondent on constructive notice that the outcome of that litigation would affect any interest in the real property, which he claimed by virtue of his judgment obtained during the vitality of the lis

a

pendens. [See generally, Hough v. Stewart, Case No. 88-2184 (Fla. 5th DCA May 11, 1989) (WESTLAW), citing to Crown Corporation v. Robinson, 174 So. 737 (Fla. 1937); and Cain and Bultman, Inc. v. Miss Sam, Inc., 409 So.2d 114 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); See also, McAlister v. Salas, 485 So.2d 1333 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986).]

е

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