IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,501

FLORIDA BAR NO. 316814

ARMANDO E. LACASA, P.A.,

Petitioner,

VS.

MURRY DIAMOND,

Respondent.

SEP 18 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Deputy Clerk

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PODHURST, QRSECK, JQSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. 25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800 Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-2800

BY: JOEL S. PERWIN

Pa	ge
Stephens v. Kies Oil Co., 386 So. 2d 1289 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) 13, 16	
Uhrig v. Redding, 150 Fla. 480, 8 So. 2d 4 (1942)	
United States Towing Co. v. Phillips, 242 F.2d 627 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 355 U.S. 861, 78 S. Ct. 93, 2 L.	
Ed. 2d 68 (1957)	
United States v. Kaplan, 277 F.2d 405 (5th Cir. 1960)	
United States v. Ressler, 433 F. Supp. 459 (S.D. 1977)	
Virginia-Carolina Chemical Corp. v. Smith, 121 Fla. 720, 164 So. 717 (1935) 13	
Warmuth v. O'Daniel, 159 F. 86 (6th Cir. 1908)	
Wethersbee v. Dekle, 107 Fla. 517, 145 So. 198 (1933)	
Whipple v. State, 431 So. 2d 1011 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983)	
AUTHORITIES	
11 U.S.C. § 548	
§ 726.104(1), Fla. Stat. (1987)	
§ 726.105(1), Fla. Stat. (1987)	

I STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A comprehensive statement of the procedural history of the instant case may be found in respondent Diamond's Answer Brief on the Merits in Case No. 74,215, American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc. v. Diamond, which is pending before the Court upon certification from the District Court of Appeal, Third District. Both that case and the instant case arise from the district court's opinion in *Diamond* v. American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc., 544 So.2d 239 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) (per curiam). In that decision, as Petitioner Armando E. Lacasa, P.A. (hereinafter "Mr. Lacasa") has noted (brief at 1), the district court decided a question involving the effect of a lis pendens (a question raised by the American Legion, Department of Florida, and not by Mr. Lacasa, and in which Mr. Lacasa has no interest), and then certified the lis-pendens question to this Court. That is the issue pending in Case No. 74,215. At the same time, though without discussing the question specifically, the district court also accepted appellant Diamond's challenge to an order of the trial court forbidding Diamond to levy against a mortgage held by Mr. Lacasa, and remanded the case with instructions to "grant Diamonds writ of execution against the mortgage." 544 So.2d at 240.

Although this summary aspect of the district court's holding was not certified for consideration by this Court, and by definition cannot expressly and directly conflict with any decisions of other district courts, ¹/₂ Mr. Lacasa filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, and the Court subsequently denied Diamond's motion to require Mr. Lacasa to submit a jurisdictional brief before reaching the merits. ²/₂

See Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. National Adoption Counseling Service, Inc., 498 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1986); Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

We hereby renew and incorporate by reference the arguments raised in our motion to require a jurisdictional brief, as a predicate for respectfully contending that the Court should not reach the merits of Mr. Lacasa's arguments. Mr. Lacasa is not involved with the issues which were certified by the district court, and the district court's opinion

II STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

As they relate to the issue involving Mr. Lacasa, the pertinent facts are the following. In August of 1983, during the pendency of the instant litigation, the American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove, Inc., conveyed title to the property at issue, subject to Mr. Diamond's lease, to Del Rossi Enterprises, Inc. (hereinafter "Del Rossi Enterprises") (R. 473-74), of which Giorgio Del Rossi was the president and sole shareholder (Tr. 457).³ In June of 1985, the American Legion, Department of Florida (hereinafter "American Legion"), filed its action against Del Rossi Enterprises in Dade County Circuit Court, to quiet title to the property (Case No. 84-25832).⁴ The complaint alleged that the American Legion Community Club of Coconut Grove had conveyed the property to Del Rossi Enterprises upon false pretenses, and with no authority from the American Legion to do so (see Tr. 434). It was in this action that the American Legion filed the lis pendens which is at issue before this Court in Case No. 74,215.

Del Rossi Enterprises was represented in Case No. 84-25832 by Mr. Lacasa, who filed a counterclaim for money damages on behalf of Del Rossi Enterprises, and undertook the representation under a written 40% contingency-fee agreement with Del

relative to Mr. Lacasa's issues does not (and cannot) conflict with decisions of this Court or other district courts. Moreover, **as** the following discussion will make clear, the issues here are well-settled and straightforward, and do not require this Court's involvement. Accordingly, we would respectfully request that the Court exercise its discretion to decline review of the issues raised by Mr. Lacasa.

[&]quot;R." refers to the Record on Appeal. "Tr." refers to the three separately- and consecutively-paginated volumes of testimony constituting Volumes IV-VI of the Record on Appeal. For the purposes of the instant proceeding, we are concerned with Volume VI, constituting Tr. 394-473.

The trial court took judicial notice of the entire file in Case No. 84-25832 (Tr. 416-17), and all of the following facts are undisputed.

Rossi Enterprises (Tr. 432, 457). The agreement required Del Rossi Enterprises to pay an attorney's fee to Mr. Lacasa only if Del Rossi Enterprises secured a money judgment or settlement on its counterclaims against the American Legion (Tr. 432, 458). In short, as in any contingency-fee arrangement, Mr. Lacasa had a contractual right to be paid only if his client collected some money.

On December 11, 1985, in the instant case, respondent Murry Diamond secured a Final Judgment in his third-party complaint against Del Rossi Enterprises, against Giorgio Del Rossi individually, and against two other corporations, in the amount of \$1,500,000.00 (Tr. 382-83, 491). That judgment was not appealed, and was duly recorded in the official records of Dade County, thus becoming a lien on the realty owned at that time by Del Rossi Enterprises. The litigation of the instant case then proceeded, and in November of 1987, at Mr. Diamond's request, the Clerk of Court issued an Alias Execution, followed by appropriate instructions for levy, notice of sheriffs sale, and other relevant documents, seeking to sell the property, then still held by Del Rossi Enterprises, to satisfy the December 11, 1985 judgment against Del Rossi Enterprises in the amount of \$1.5 million. The sale was scheduled for January 27, 1988 (see R. 393-99).

About a month before the scheduled sale, on December 21, 1987, the American Legion and Del Rossi Enterprises entered into a settlement agreement of all pending claims in Case No. 84-25832, including the counterclaims by Del Rossi Enterprises for money damages. Under that settlement, Del Rossi Enterprises agreed to convey the property to the American Legion in return for a promissory note and mortgage in which the American Legion promised to pay \$125,000.00--but not to Del Rossi Enterprises; to the contrary, the agreement provided for payment to Del Rossi Enterprises' attorney, Mr.

The written fee agreement was introduced into evidence (see Tr. 439), but was not included in the Record on Appeal. As we note infra, the parties all stipulated to its contents.

Lacasa (R. **493-501).** The promissory note, and the accompanying mortgage, provided that the American Legion was obligated to pay the **\$125,000.00** to Mr. Lacasa only out of Diamond's rental payments on the property, except that if Diamond should default on his lease, the American Legion still would be responsible to Mr. Lacasa on the note (R. **496-97**; see Tr. **448-49**).

The evidence concerning the circumstances of this settlement agreement is uncontradicted, and was provided primarily through Giorgio Del Rossi and his attorney, Mr. Lacasa. Mr. Del Rossi testified that he settled the case with the American Legion because it was very clear to him that the American Legion's action against him was meritorious--that is, that Del Rossi Enterprises would not retain any rights in the property--and thus that it would not be fruitful to continue with the suit (Tr. 434-35). In addition, Mr. Del Rossi was well aware at the time of the settlement that Murry Diamond had a \$1.5-million judgment against Del Rossi Enterprises (Tr. 453); and he knew that even if he did prevail in the action against the American Legion, and therefore kept the land, Diamond could execute against the property, and force its sale, in satisfaction of that judgment (Tr. 431). Thus, Del Rossi Enterprises settled the suit under circumstances in which it lost the land, and compromised all of its counterclaims, without itself receiving any money on those counterclaims.

Therefore, **as** Mr. Del Rossi and Mr. Lacasa acknowledged at trial, Del Rossi Enterprises got no money **as** a result of the settlement with the American Legion (Tr. **433-34, 449).** For this reason, **as** the trial court noted, and **as** both Mr. Del Rossi and Mr. Lacasa admitted, Del Rossi Enterprises had no obligation to pay any attorneys' fees to Mr. Lacasa under the contingency-fee agreement:

THE COURT You didn't have to pay him one nickel attorneys' fees?

THE WITNESS [Mr. Del Rossi]: Yes, Your Honor (Tr. **437**).

As Mr. Lacasa later put it, Del Rossi Enterprises did receive a benefit from the settlement, in that it "settled an issue that could have become more controversial as far as [Mr. Del Rossi], was concerned--it did avoid a judgment, perhaps for fraud--but under the contingency-fee contract, Mr. Lacasa acknowledged, he was not entitled to "a percentage of the value of him avoiding fraud, litigation," but only to "forty percent of any money or anything of value that he receives" (Tr. 450). Thus, everyone admitted that as a result of the settlement as framed, Del Rossi Enterprises did not owe Mr. Lacasa any money for attorneys' fees.

Nevertheless, the settlement between Del Rossi Enterprises and the American Legion provided that the American Legion would pay Mr. Lacasa--the attorney whom Del Rossi Enterprises owed nothing--\$125,000.00 (out of Diamond's prospective rental payments to the American Legion). Mr. Del Rossi freely admitted that this part of the consideration was executed for Mr. Lacasa's benefit (Tr. 437), and Mr. Lacasa freely admitted that the entire deal could have been accomplished without any provision to pay him such a gratuity (Tr. 443). But from the American Legion's perspective, although it knew that part of the settlement was a payment to Del Rossi Enterprises' attorney (Tr. 461, 467), the American Legion was indifferent as to who got the money, as long as the American Legion got the land (Tr. 468).

Thus, the end result of this settlement was that Mr. Del Rossi--who knew that Diamond had a judgment against himself and his company for \$1.5 million--agreed to convey the land (against which Diamond might otherwise levy pursuant to his judgment lien) back to the American Legion, and arranged to have the money (against which Diamond might also otherwise levy) conveyed directly to his attorney--whom everyone admitted had no contractual right to any attorneys' fees. Two days later, the trial court in Case No. 84-25832 entered a final judgment pursuant to the settlement between the American Legion and Del Rossi Enterprises.

Subsequently, the trial court in the instant case entertained Diamond's claims against both the land and the Lacasa mortgage. On the latter question, Diamond argued that he was entitled to levy against the mortgage securing Mr. Lacasa's attorneys' fees, in satisfaction of his judgment against Del Rossi Enterprises, because the agreement to pay those fees was a fraud upon Del Rossi Enterprises' creditors, including Diamond (Tr. 418-21, 473-74). He argued that the agreement to pay attorneys' fees to Mr. Lacasa was patently fraudulent, because it was entered into without any consideration, because Del Rossi Enterprises did not owe Mr. Lacasa any attorneys' fees.

The trial court rejected this argument. It ruled that, in the absence of any evidence that Mr. Lacasa intended to kick-back any part of his attorneys' fees to Del Rossi Enterprises, "these people had a right to settle the way they settled," and "[i]t has no bearing in my opinion in connection with the lawsuit between Mr. Diamond and the Legion and Mr. Del Rossi" (Tr. 473-74). The trial court subsequently entered an order denying Diamond's motion for a writ of execution on the Lacasa mortgage (R. 515), and the appeal to the district court followed. As Mr. Lacasa has pointed out, the district court reversed the trial court's order on the question of the Lacasa mortgage, remanding the case with instructions to "grant Diamond's writ of execution against the mortgage." 455 So.2d at 240. As Mr. Lacasa also has pointed out, the district court did not disclose its reasoning in support of this aspect of its holding.

III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, the district court did not err in summarily reversing the trial court's order denying Diamond's motion to levy against the Lacasa mortgage, without issuing a written opinion to explain its reasoning. The district court was not required to issue an opinion on the subject, and its ruling must stand or fall on its merits.

Second, the district court was right to reverse and remand with instructions to permit Mr. Diamond to levy against the Lacasa mortgage, because the uncontradicted evidence establishes, **as** a matter of law, that the mortgage was the product of a fraudulent conveyance. Under § 726.105(1)(a) and (b), Fla. Stat. (1987), a fraudulent conveyance may be proved not only by a showing of fraudulent intent, but also by showing that the conveyance was made without adequate consideration. Upon a showing of inadequate consideration, the burden of proof shifts to the transferor to demonstrate that the conveyance was not fraudulent. And by adequate consideration, the statute means the transfer of property or the satisfaction of **a** legal obligation--not simply affection, respect or gratitude.

In the instant case, the evidence is uncontradicted that **as** a result of the settlement between the American Legion and Del Rossi Enterprises for reconveyance of the land, Del Rossi Enterprises did not owe Mr. Lacasa any money in attorneys' fees. Mr. Lacasa had a written contingency-fee agreement, which entitled him to a fee only out of any monetary recovery obtained by his client. In the instant case, there was none. Thus, **as** Mr. Del Rossi and Mr. Lacasa frankly admitted in their sworn testimony, the arrangement of the mortgage for Mr. Lacasa's benefit was a pure gratuity, which satisfied no legal obligation of any nature. The conveyance thus was made for no consideration, and in the absence of any rebuttal, was fraudulent **as** a matter of law.

In response to this contention, Mr. Lacasa has offered two arguments, supported by no authority at all. First, Mr. Lacasa has argued that there was consideration for his mortgage, because he performed valuable legal work which resulted in Del Rossi Enterprises' settlement with the American Legion, which assertedly constitutes adequate consideration. However, Mr. Lacasa was legally entitled to a fee for that legal work only out of any monetary recovery secured for Del Rossi Enterprises, and he secured none. Thus, although Del Rossi Enterprises may have been grateful for Mr. Lacasa's

work in the case, it owed him no compensation for that work, and the mortgage was supported by no consideration.

Second, Mr. Lacasa has argued that the conveyance could not be considered fraudulent if it merely represented a gratuity which Del Rossi Enterprises engineered in appreciation of Mr. Lacasa's legal services, but only upon proof of collusion between Mr. Lacasa and Del Rossi Enterprises, by which Mr. Lacasa was to kick back some of the mortgage money to Del Rossi Enterprises, thus defrauding Del Rossi Enterprises' creditors. No authority has been offered for this conclusion, and it is simply incorrect. Although such collusion would be fraudulent, the transaction at issue was fraudulent without such collusion, because it had the effect of improperly preventing Del Rossi Enterprises' creditors, like Diamond, from satisfying all or part of their debts. We will review the authorities for this proposition, including several analogous cases under the bankruptcy laws. Because the uncontradicted evidence establishes that the Lacasa mortgage was the product of a fraudulent conveyance, the district court was correct to reverse and remand the trial court's order on the subject, with instructions to permit Diamond to levy against that mortgage.

IV ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ERR WHEN IT REVERSED THE TRIAL COURT ON THE ISSUE OF FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCE WITHOUT FIRST REVIEWING THE RECORD OR THE MERITS OF THE CASE.

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